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OPINION AND ORDER


BY THE COMMISSION:

[bookmark: _Hlk38523551]Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition are the Exceptions of Jeffrey Ulmer (Complainant or Mr. Ulmer) filed on March 26, 2020, to the Initial Decision (I.D. or Initial Decision) of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Elizabeth H. Barnes, served on the Parties on March 6, 2020, in the above-captioned proceeding.  On April 6, 2020, PPL Electric Utilities Corporation (PPL or the Company) filed Replies to Exceptions.  The Initial Decision denied the Amended Formal Complaint (Amended Complaint) filed by Mr. Ulmer on January 7, 2020.  For the reasons discussed below, we shall deny the Complainant’s Exceptions, adopt the Initial Decision of ALJ Barnes, and dismiss the Amended Complaint, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

I. Background 

This case involves a Formal Complaint (Complaint), as amended (Amended Complaint), concerning the safety of the advanced metering infrastructure (AMI), or smart meter, that PPL proposes to install at the Complainant’s residence and use in the ordinary course of business to measure the Complainant’s electricity consumption.  The Complainant requested that PPL not install a smart meter at his residence due to his concerns regarding safety, health, and privacy concerns related to installation of the smart meter.  Amended Complaint at 2-10.
 
PPL is an electric distribution company (EDC) subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission.  PPL furnishes, owns, and maintains the meters in its distribution system.  See PPL’s Tariff Electric Pa. P.U.C. No. 201, Section 8.A at 12.

The Complainant is a PPL customer who has been notified of PPL’s intent to install a smart meter at his residence.  The Complainant currently has a powerline carrier (PLC) meter installed at his residence that provides the function of automatic meter reading (AMR).

Act 129 of 2008 (Act 129 or Act), inter alia, amended Chapter 28 of the Public Utility Code (Code) and required EDCs with more than 100,000 customers to file smart meter technology procurement and installation plans for Commission approval and to furnish smart meter technology within its service territory in accordance with the provisions of the Act.  Section 2807(f) of the Code provides as follows:
(f)	Smart Meter technology and time of use rates. 

(1) Within nine months after the effective date of this paragraph, electric distribution companies shall file a Smart Meter technology procurement and installation plan with the commission for approval.  The plan shall describe the Smart Meter technologies the electric distribution company proposes to install in accordance with paragraph (2). 

(2) Electric distribution companies shall furnish Smart Meter technology as follows: 

(i) Upon request from a customer that agrees to pay the cost of the Smart Meter at the time of the request.

(ii) In new building construction.

(iii) In accordance with a depreciation schedule not to exceed 15 years.

66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(f).  The General Assembly found that it was “in the public interest” to implement the measures set forth in Act 129 and that the universal installation of smart meters would enhance the “health, safety and prosperity” of Pennsylvania’s citizens through the “availability of adequate, reliable, affordable, efficient and environmentally sustainable electric service at the least cost.”  See H.B. 2200, 192d Gen. Assemb., Reg. Sess. (Pa. 2008).  

[bookmark: _Hlk22627194]By Order entered in 2009, the Commission directed all EDCs subject to Act 129’s smart meter requirements, including PPL, to universally deploy smart meter technology within their respective service territories in the Commonwealth in accordance with a depreciation schedule not to exceed fifteen years and in accordance with other guidelines established therein.  See Smart Meter Procurement and Installation, Docket No. M-2009-2092655 (Implementation Order entered June 24, 2009) (Smart Meter Implementation Order).  PPL sought and obtained the Commission’s approval to complete the installation of AMI meters with substantially all customers to receive an AMI meter by late 2019.  See Petition of PPL Electric Company for Approval of Its Smart Meter Technology Procurement and Installation Plan, Docket Nos. M‑2014‑2430781 (Order entered September 3, 2015) (2015 Smart Meter Order).

II. History of the Proceeding

On August 3, 2018, Mr. Ulmer filed the instant Complaint stating that due to health issues, fire hazard, and violation of his rights, he does not want a smart meter installed on his residence at 7001 Running Valley Road, Stroudsburg, Pennsylvania18360 (Service Address).  Complaint at 1-3; I.D. at 1.

On August 29, 2018, the Company filed an Answer to the Complaint (Answer), admitting that PPL provides electric service to the Complainant but contending that it is required to install AMI, or smart meters, for all AMR customers and that it has the right to terminate service for failure of the customer to permit access to the meter.  Answer at 1-3; I.D. at 2.

On September 3, 2019, PPL filed a Motion to Compel Responses to Discovery Propounded on Jeffrey Ulmer – Set I (Motion to Compel). [footnoteRef:1]  On September 11, 2019, the Complainant filed a Certificate of Service, certifying that he served his Answers to Interrogatory on PPL.   [1:  	On January 9, 2019, PPL filed Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents Propounded by PPL on Jeffrey Ulmer – Set 1 (Interrogatories).  On January 29, 2019, the Complainant filed his Response to Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents by PPL (Response to Interrogatories).  According to PPL’s Motion to Compel and based upon a review of the Commission’s case management system, there is no record of PPL being served with the Complainant’s Response to Interrogatories.  In the Motion to Compel, PPL explained that on August 20, 2019, the Complainant E-mailed PPL a copy of his Response to Interrogatories.  PPL further explained that the Complainant’s Response to Interrogatories is deficient and incomplete to Questions 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 in the Interrogatories.  Accordingly, PPL requested that the ALJ compel responses to Interrogatories, Questions 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7.  Motion to Compel at 1-2.] 


By Corrected Hearing Notice dated September 20, 2019 (Hearing Notice) and duly served on the Parties, an Initial Telephonic Hearing was scheduled for January 14, 2020, at 11:00 a.m.  The Hearing Notice included the date, location, and time of the hearing.  The Hearing Notice further stated: “If you have any hearing exhibits to which you will refer during the hearing, three (3) copies must be sent to the Administrative Law Judge and one (1) copy each must be sent to every other party.  All copies must be received at least five (5) business days before the hearing.”  (emphasis in original).

On January 7, 2020, the Complainant filed the Amended Complaint, alleging that his current health issues resulted from his current meter and declaring that his health issues will worsen with the new AMI smart meter.  Mr. Ulmer claimed that the AMI meter PPL intends to install poses a risk to his safety and the safety of his family, his friends, and his animals.  The Complainant averred that PPL’s installation of the PLC or AMR meter currently at his residence is a violation of Section 1501 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, as well as Section 57.194 of our Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 57.194.  The Complainant further stated that the AMI meter PPL intends to install on his property would be a violation of Sections 1501 and 1502 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § § 1501 and 1502, and Section 57.194 of our Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 57.194.  Amended Complaint at 2-7; I.D. at 2.  In addition, the Complainant noted his concerns with, inter alia, termination of electric service, safety and health concerns, and cybersecurity.  Amended Complaint at 8-10.  The Complainant requested an American with Disabilities Act (ADA) accommodation due to his inability to sleep more than two hours at a time, which Mr. Ulmer claimed is a result of interference from the meter currently installed at his residence.  Id. at 11.

On January 13, 2020, PPL filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint denying all of the material allegations of the Amended Complaint.  Answer to Amended Complaint at 1-15; I.D. at 2.

 On January 14, 2020, an evidentiary hearing was held as scheduled.  The Complainant appeared pro se, testified on his behalf, and attempted to present three exhibits, but upon objection by PPL, the exhibits were not admitted into the record.[footnoteRef:2]  The Company was represented by counsel and presented the testimony of four witnesses:  (1) Christopher C. Davis, Ph.D.; (2) Mark Israel, M.D.; (3) Kevin Durkin; and (4) Michael Asbury.  PPL also offered sixteen exhibits, which were admitted into the record as follows:  PPL’s Statements 1-4 and Exhibits CD-1 – CD-5; MI-1-MI-3; KD-1-KD-6 and DV-1.[footnoteRef:3]   [2:  	As discussed herein, according to the hearing transcript, Mr. Ulmer testified he had recently submitted evidence to PPL, at which point counsel for PPL clarified it had received an article and two YouTube videos from the Complainant the day before the hearing.  PPL objected, to the extent that the Complainant attempted to introduce these items into evidence, on the procedural grounds that the exhibits were not received by PPL at least five business days prior to the hearing as required under the Commission’s Regulations and on the evidentiary grounds that the videos contain hearsay, hearsay within hearsay, irrelevant materials, and had not been authenticated.  Tr. at 17-19; I.D. at 2.]  [3:   	Michael Asbury adopted the written testimony of Donald Vinciguerra and sponsored Exhibit DV-1.  I.D. at 3 (citing Tr. at 44).] 


The hearing produced a transcript consisting of ninety-two pages.  The record was closed on January 31, 2020.[footnoteRef:4]  [4:  	We note that although the Commission’s case management system indicates the hearing transcript was received January 14, 2020 (the date of the hearing) and the Initial Decision indicates that the transcript was received on January 31, 2020, the hearing transcript is stamped as “Received” by the Commission’s Secretary’s Bureau on January 27, 2020.] 


In the Initial Decision issued on March 6, 2020, the ALJ dismissed the Amended Complaint for failing to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the installation of the smart meter constitutes unsafe or unreasonable service under Section 1501 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, or that it violates any other provision of the Code, Commission Regulation, Commission Order or Commission-approved Company tariff.  I.D. at 1, 20, 24.

As previously noted, the Complainant filed Exceptions on March 26, 2020, and PPL filed Replies to Exceptions on April 6, 2020. 
 
III. Discussion
[bookmark: _Hlk46208808]
[bookmark: _Toc10812924]Legal Standards

[bookmark: _Hlk39487795][bookmark: _Hlk39482196]As the party seeking affirmative relief from the Commission, the complainant in a formal complaint proceeding has the burden of proof.  66 Pa. C.S. § 332(a).  The evidence necessary to meet that burden must be substantial.  2 Pa. C.S. § 704.  “Substantial evidence” is such relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Consolidated Edison Company of New York v. National Labor Relations Board, 305 U.S. 197, 229, 59 S.Ct. 206, 217 (1938).  More is required than a mere trace of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact sought to be established.  Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. v. Pa. PUC, 489 Pa. 109, 413 A.2d 1037 (1980).

To establish a sufficient case and satisfy the burden of proof, the Complainant must show that the respondent utility is responsible or accountable for the problem described in the Complaint.  Patterson v. The Bell Telephone Company of Pennsylvania, 72 Pa. P.U.C. 196 (1990).  The offense must be a violation of the Code, a Commission Regulation or Order or a violation of a Commission-approved tariff.  66 Pa.C.S. § 701.  Such a showing must be by a “preponderance of the evidence.”  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. PUC, 578 A.2d 600 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1990), alloc. denied, 529 Pa. 654, 602 A.2d 863 (1992).  That is, the Complainant’s evidence must be more convincing, by even the smallest amount, than that presented by the respondent.  Se-Ling Hosiery, Inc. v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 45, 70 A.2d 854 (1950).  

The burden of proof is comprised of two distinct burdens:  (1) the burden of production; and (2) the burden of persuasion.  Hurley v. Hurley, 2000 Pa. Super. 178, 754 A.2d 1283 (2000).  The burden of production, also called the burden of going forward with the evidence, determines which party must come forward with evidence to support a particular claim or defense.  Scott and Linda Moore v. National Fuel Gas Distribution, Docket No. C-2014-2458555 (Initial Decision issued May 11, 2015) (Moore).  The burden of production goes to the legal sufficiency of a party’s claim or affirmative defense.  See Id.  It may shift between the parties during a hearing.  A complainant may establish a prima facie case with circumstantial evidence.  See Milkie v. Pa. PUC, 768 A.2d 1217, 1220 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2001) (Milkie).  If a complainant introduces sufficient evidence to establish legal sufficiency of the claim, also called a prima facie case, the burden of production shifts to the utility to rebut the complainant’s evidence.  See Moore.

If the utility introduces evidence sufficient to balance the evidence introduced by the complainant, that is, evidence of co-equal value or weight, the complainant’s burden of proof has not been satisfied and the burden of going forward with the evidence shifts back to the complainant, who must provide some additional evidence favorable to the complainant’s claim.  See Milkie, 768 A.2d at 1220; see also, Burleson v. Pa. PUC, 443 A.2d 1373 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1982), aff’d, 501 Pa. 433, 461 A.2d 1234 (1983).

[bookmark: _Hlk1639687]Having produced sufficient evidence to establish legal sufficiency of a claim, the party with the burden of proof must also carry the burden of persuasion to be entitled to a favorable ruling.  See Moore.  While the burden of production may shift back and forth during a proceeding, the burden of persuasion never shifts; it always remains on a complainant as the party seeking affirmative relief from the Commission.  See Milkie, 768 A.2d at 1220; see also, Riedel v. County of Allegheny, 633 A.2d 1325, 1328, n. 11 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1993); see also, Burleson, 443 A.2d at 1375.  It is entirely possible for a party to carry the burden of production but not be entitled to a favorable ruling because the party did not carry the burden of persuasion.  See Moore.  In determining whether a complainant has met the burden of persuasion, the fact-finder[footnoteRef:5] may engage in determinations of credibility, may accept or reject testimony of any witness in whole or in part, and may accept or reject inferences from the evidence.  See Moore, citing Suber v. Pa. Comm’n on Crime and Delinquency, 885 A.2d 678 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2005), appeal denied, 586 Pa. 776, 895 A.2d 1264 (2006). [5: 	In formal complaint proceedings, the Commission, not the ALJ, is the ultimate fact-finder; it weighs the evidence and resolves conflicts in testimony.  When reviewing the initial decision of an ALJ, the Commission has all the powers that it would have had in making the initial decision except as to any limits that it may impose by notice or by rule.  Milkie, 768 A.2d at 1220, n. 7 (citing, inter alia, 66 Pa. C.S. § 335(a)).] 


[bookmark: _Hlk24718624]The Commission has determined that there is no provision in Act 129 or in the Code, the Commission’s Regulations or Orders, that permits a customer to “opt out” of smart meter installation.  See Maria Povacz v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. C‑2012-2317176 (Order entered January 24, 2013) (2013 Povacz Order); see also, Cathisine J. Frompovich v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. C-2015-2474602 (Order entered May 3, 2018) (Frompovich).  However, the Commission has determined that if a customer’s formal complaint can raise a claim under Section 1501 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, related to the safety of a utility’s installation and use of a smart meter at the customer’s residence, such a claim is legally sufficient to proceed to an evidentiary hearing before an ALJ.  See Susan Kreider v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. P‑2015-2495064 (Order entered January 28, 2016) (2016 Kreider).  At the hearing, a complainant may prove his/her claim through the complainant’s own personal testimony and/or “the testimony of others as well as other evidence that goes to that issue.”  Romeo v. Pa. PUC, 154 A.3d 422, 430 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2017) (Romeo).

[bookmark: _Hlk39487845]Pursuant to Section 1501 of the Code, a public utility has a duty to maintain “adequate, efficient, safe, and reasonable service and facilities” and to make repairs, changes, and improvements that are necessary or proper for the accommodation, convenience, and safety of its patrons, employees, and the public.  See, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501.  Section 1501 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

Every public utility shall furnish and maintain adequate, efficient, safe, and reasonable service and facilities, and shall make all such repairs, changes, alterations, substitutions, extensions, and improvements in or to such service and facilities as shall be necessary or proper for the accommodation, convenience, and safety of its patrons, employees, and the public . . . Such service and facilities shall be in conformity with the regulations and orders of the commission.

The term “service” is defined broadly under Section 102 of the Code to include any and all acts done or rendered, or performed and any and all things furnished or supplied and any and all facilities, used, furnished or supplied by public utilities.  See, 66 Pa. C.S. § 102.  The statutory definition of “service” is also to be broadly construed by the Commission and the courts.  Country Place Waste Treatment Co., Inc. v. Pa. PUC, 654 A.2d 72 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1995).

Pursuant to Section 57.28(a)(1) of our Regulations,[footnoteRef:6] an EDC must use reasonable efforts to properly warn and protect the public from danger and to exercise reasonable care to reduce the hazards to which customers may be subjected to by reason of the EDC’s provision of electric utility service and its associated equipment and facilities.  See 52 Pa. Code § 57.28(a)(1).   [6: 	See Final Rulemaking Order, Rulemaking Re: Electric Safety Regulations, 52 Pa. Code Chapter 57, Docket No. L-2015-2500632 (Order entered April 20, 2017) (Electric Safety Final Rulemaking Order).] 


[bookmark: _Hlk38531045]As we ruled in Maria Povacz v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. C‑2015-2475023 (Order entered March 28, 2019) (2019 Povacz Order), in order to prevail in a Section 1501 claim against an EDC alleging that an AMI meter caused or will cause adverse health effects or harm to human health, the Complainant must demonstrate, by a preponderance of the evidence, a “conclusive causal connection” between the harm to human health and the radio frequency fields (RFs)[footnoteRef:7] from the AMI meter.  See 2019 Povacz Order at 28-29 (citing Letter of Notification of Philadelphia Electric Company Relative to the Reconstructing and Rebuilding of the Existing 138 kV Line to Operate as the Woodbourne-Heaton 230 kV Line in Montgomery and Bucks Counties, 1993 WL 855896 (Pa. P.U.C. 1993), Docket No. A-110550F0055 (Order entered November 12, 1993) (Woodbourne-Heaton Final Order) slip op. at 11). [7: 	 	RF is an abbreviation for radio frequency and is also used here to denote RF fields or RF signals.  An RF field is the field produced when an object sends a signal at a frequency in the radio frequency range, most commonly used for radio communications.  AMI meters send low level radio signals and produce RF fields which are a natural result of sending radio signals.  PPL St. 1 at 5, 7.] 


[bookmark: _Hlk39479873]Finally, we note that any argument or Exception that we do not specifically delineate shall be deemed to have been duly considered and denied without further discussion.  The Commission is not required to consider expressly or at length each contention or argument raised by the parties.  Consolidated Rail Corp. v. Pa. PUC, 625 A.2d 741 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1993); see also, generally, University of Pennsylvania v. Pa. PUC, 485 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984).

[bookmark: _Hlk45106054]ALJ’s Initial Decision

In the Initial Decision, ALJ Barnes made thirty-nine Findings of Fact (FOF) and reached eighteen Conclusions of Law (COL).  I.D. at 3-8, 20-23.  The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are incorporated herein by reference and are adopted without comment unless they are either expressly or by necessary implication rejected or modified by this Opinion and Order.

In her analysis, ALJ Barnes addressed two main issues:  (1) health and safety concerns; and (2) an opt-in versus opt-out program.  I.D. at 12-20.

[bookmark: _Hlk44428554]  	Health and Safety Concerns

The ALJ first addressed the Complainant’s claim that the AMI meter will cause or contribute to negative health effects including, inter alia, issues with sleeping and cancer to the Complainant, his girlfriend, and his farm animals.[footnoteRef:8]  The ALJ noted that the Complainant provided an article and two YouTube videos to counsel for PPL the day prior to the hearing but did not provide these materials to the presiding officer.  I.D. at 12.   [8: 	In the Amended Complaint, the Complainant claimed that the AMI meter will emit RF radiation and, according to Dr. Robert Baan from the International Agency for Research on Cancer and the World Health Organization (WHO), “…RF is considered a Class 2B carcinogen...”  Amended Complaint at 3.] 


The ALJ also acknowledged the Company’s contention that the Complainant’s concerns regarding health and safety were thoroughly rebutted by PPL’s witnesses, including expert witnesses Dr. Davis and Dr. Israel, who in their expert opinions, testified that there is no reliable, scientific or medical basis to conclude that the AMI meter causes, contributes to, or exacerbates adverse health effects.  Therefore, the ALJ continued, Mr. Ulmer failed to sustain his burden of proof on this matter.  I.D. at 12.  

The ALJ added that the Company objected to the admission of the videos and article provided to PPL one day prior to the hearing because the videos and article contained hearsay within hearsay and irrelevant material that had not been authenticated nor properly received by either counsel for PPL or the presiding officer at least five days before the hearing.  I.D. at 12 (citing Tr. at 17-19).  The ALJ agreed with PPL that the videos and article be excluded from evidence because the two videos contained statements made by a third party not available for cross examination.  The ALJ further concurred with PPL that the videos and article be excluded on the grounds that these items were provided to PPL only one day before the hearing and were not provided to the presiding officer.  Id.  

The ALJ found the lay opinion of the Complainant that the death of two of Mr. Ulmer’s chickens and two of his rabbits was caused by the AMI meter installed on a utility pole near the living area of Mr. Ulmer’s animals to be non-persuasive.  I.D. at 13 (citing Tr. at 16, 19-20).  Further, the ALJ explained that the Complainant failed to prove the AMI meter will cause, or contribute to, cancer as she reasoned that Mr. Ulmer is not an expert (i.e., neither an engineer nor a medical professional), his testimony was based upon hearsay, and his opinion is based upon two unnamed YouTube videos and an unnamed article not provided to the presiding officer.  Id.  (citing Tr. at 24).  Moreover, the ALJ referenced Section 332 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 332(c), in noting that the Complainant’s testimony and opinion were insufficient to refute the credible testimonies of Dr. Israel and Dr. Davis.  Id.  (citing Answerphone, Inc. & Elite Answering Serv. v. The Bell Tele. Co. of Pa., 1993 Pa. PUC LEXIS 70, at *29-30 (Order entered April 1, 1993)).

The ALJ was persuaded by the testimony of PPL witness Dr. Israel, who explained that claimed symptoms related to Electromagnetic Hypersensitivity (EHS) are more accurately described as Idiopathic Environmental Intolerance (IEI), in which “idiopathic” means “cause unknown.”  I.D. at 7, 14 (citing PPL St. 2 at 12-13).   

The ALJ provided that Dr. Israel testified to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that there is no reliable medical basis to conclude that RF fields from the AMI meter intended for installation by PPL will cause, or contribute to, adverse effects on sleep or the development of illness or diseases.  Further, based on the expert medical opinion testimony of Dr. Israel, the ALJ concluded that there is no reliable medical basis to conclude that RF fields from the AMI meter being used by PPL would cause, contribute to, or exacerbate any of the symptoms claimed by the Complainant, or any other adverse health effects.  I.D. at 14-15 (citing PPL St. 2 at 16).  

The ALJ also summarized Dr. Israel’s testimony regarding a number of studies on animals in areas that address fundamental, biological functions that are sensitive to any disruption and that involved lifetime exposures to RF Fields.  Dr. Israel stated that these studies found no adverse effects on genetics, fertility, reproduction, growth or development, nor did they find increased incidence in cancer, in the animals exposed to RF fields.  I.D. at 14-15 (citing PPL St. 2 at 6-10).  

		In addition, the ALJ found credible the testimony of PPL witness Dr. Davis, who opined that the Landis + Gyr AMI meter would not cause adverse health effects.  The ALJ provided that the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) has determined safe public exposure levels for RF fields from devices that transmit RF signals, such as the AMI meters.  The ALJ further provided that the FCC safe public exposure limits are based on evaluations of the body of scientific research on RF fields and were adopted in consultation with other federal agencies, including the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).  I.D. at 16 (citing PPL St. 1 at 9-10).  

		The ALJ noted that the levels of RF fields from the Landis + Gyr Focus AXR-SD AMI meters are 98,000 times lower than the RF exposure safety limits established by the FCC.[footnoteRef:9]  I.D. at 16 (citing PPL St. 1 at 13; PPL Exh. CD2).  The ALJ noted further that RF signals from the AMI meter are of very short duration and will occur for only a total of 84 seconds over a 24-hour period.  I.D. at 16 (citing PPL St. 1 at 7).   [9:  	The applicable FCC Maximum Permissible Exposure Limit for the smart meter proposed by PPL is 0.6 mW/cm2 based on a 30-minute average.  47 CFR § 1.1310.] 


In additional summary of the expert evidence, the ALJ stated that regarding cell phone use, the exposure from using cell phones at a person’s head can be over 260,000 times higher than the RF fields one meter away from the AMI meter.  I.D. at 16 (citing PPL St. 1 at 14).  The ALJ also referenced Dr. Davis’s testimony that there are fifteen television broadcast towers within a 50-mile radius of the Complainant’s location in Stroudsburg, Pennsylvania.  According to Dr. Davis, the locations of each tower and their RF fields result in a constant background level of RF fields at Mr. Ulmer’s residence that are 31.6 times higher than the RF signals from the AMI meter.  I.D. at 16 (citing PPL St. 1 at 15; PPL Exh. CD-5). 

The ALJ also addressed Mr. Ulmer’s request regarding an ADA accommodation.  Specifically, the ALJ pointed out that the Commission is not a federal court, which is the appropriate body to determine violations of the ADA.  Therefore, the ALJ continued, the Commission does not have jurisdiction to determine the Complainant to be disabled under the ADA guidelines, nor to direct the Company to provide Mr. Ulmer with his ADA accommodation request, including an opt-out from a smart meter installation.  I.D. at 17 (citing Mid-Atlantic Power Supply Assoc. v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. P-00981615, 1999 Pa PUC LEXIS 30 (entered May 19, 1999); Mid-Atlantic Power Supply Assoc. v. Pa. PUC, 746 A.2d 1196 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2000).

	Smart Meter Opt-out Request

The ALJ acknowledged the Complainant’s argument that forty-two other states have an opt-in program and that Mr. Ulmer has been in contact with his Senator who has sponsored a bill regarding Act 129 of 2008, 66 Pa. C.S. §§ 2806.1 - 2807.  I.D. at 17.  The ALJ provided that the Company contends its installation of an AMI meter is required by Pennsylvania law and that installation of an AMI meter on the Complainant’s property would not constitute unreasonable or unsafe service.  Id.

The ALJ noted that the fact that other states have opt-out provisions in their laws is non-binding, and that the Commission is formulating binding policy through adjudications, which constitute binding precedent.  I.D. at 18 (citing Crawford v. National Fuel Gas Distribution Corporation, C-20066348 (Opinion and Order entered December 6, 2007), citing Pacific Gas & Electric Co. v. FPC, 164 U.S. App. D.C. 371, 506 F.2d 33 (D.C. Cir. 1974)).
  
The ALJ explained that the Commission has ruled that there is no provision in the Code, or our Regulations or Orders, that permit a PPL customer to opt out of smart meter installation.  I.D. at 17-18 (citing Bervinchak v. PPL Electric Utilities Corporation, C-2016-2572824 and C-2016-2577527 (Final Order October 2, 2018, Initial Decision dated August 16, 2018); 2013 Povacz Order; 2019 Povacz Order).  The ALJ added that the Commonwealth Court has held that federal law does not preempt the Commission’s interpretation.  I.D. at 18 (citing Romeo).  Further, the ALJ noted that the Commission has held that it has no authority, absent directive in the form of legislation, to prohibit an EDC from installing a smart meter where a customer does not want one.  I.D. at 20 (citing 2013 Povacz Order).  The ALJ concluded that PPL would be in violation of the law if it did not install a smart meter at properties similarly situated to the Complainant’s residence.  I.D. at 20 (citing 2013 Povacz Order; Frompovich at 7-8). 

Based on all of the above, the ALJ dismissed the Complaint for failure to prove, by a preponderance of evidence, that the installation of a smart meter constitutes unsafe or unreasonable service under 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, or a violation of the Code, a Commission Order or Regulation or a Commission-approved tariff of the Company.  I.D. at 20.  

Exceptions, Replies, and Disposition

		The Complainant’s Exceptions[footnoteRef:10] generally argue that the ALJ erred as to her rulings regarding:  (1) due process; (2) health and safety concerns; (3) credibility and credential concerns of Dr. Davis and Dr. Israel; (4) opt-out and interpretation of 66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(f); and (5) prior decisions of smart meter complaints.   [10: 	 	We acknowledge that the format of the Complainant’s Exceptions does not strictly comply with Section 5.533(b) of our Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 5.533(b), which requires that exceptions be numbered, identify the finding of fact and conclusions of law to which exceptions is taken, and cite to the relevant pages of the Initial Decision.  Nevertheless, particularly because the Complainant is appearing pro se, we will accept the Exceptions as filed, pursuant to Section 1.2(a) and (d) of our Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 1.2(a) and (d), in order to secure a just, speedy, and inexpensive determination.  ] 


[bookmark: _Hlk47075034]		In addition, we note that the Complainant has attached extra-record materials to his Exceptions and makes use of these materials in his Exceptions.  We will disregard the extra-record materials – specifically, the document referred to by the Complainant as the “Senate Journal on October 8, 2008, pages 2626-2631,” and the Complainant’s summarized comments from those pages[footnoteRef:11] – as the use of this extra-record information by the Commission would violate PPL’s due process rights.  It is well-established that parties cannot introduce new evidence at the exceptions stage.  Application of Apollo Gas Co., 1994 Pa. PUC Lexis, at *8-14 (Order entered February 10, 1994) (Apollo Gas).  The information regarding “the discussion of PN 4526 in the Senate” and the comments regarding smart meters referenced by the Complainant is introduced for the first time in his Exceptions and is not in the record.  Exc. at 5-6.  As noted earlier, the record closed on January 31, 2020.  I.D. at 3.  The Complainant’s extra-record evidence cannot be admitted into the record at this current procedural stage of the case.  Therefore, we must reject this extra-record evidence introduced by the Complainant in his Exceptions.  Apollo Gas.  [11: 	A hyperlink to the extra record materials appears immediately following the Complainant’s summarized comments from those materials.  Exc. at 5-6.] 


1. Complainant’s Due Process Concerns Regarding Briefs

a. [bookmark: _Hlk45196132]Exception No. 1

The Complainant avers that the ALJ erred when she did not issue a briefing schedule to the Parties.  Mr. Ulmer is of the opinion that he is at a disadvantage without a briefing schedule and a chance to present his legal arguments.  The Complainant further argues that by not issuing a briefing schedule, the ALJ serves to dismiss his case without legal process and is in violation of his constitutional rights.  Exc. at 2.

[bookmark: _Hlk45196242]b. 	Replies

PPL contends that the Complainant was not denied due process by the lack of briefs being submitted by the Parties.  R. Exc. at 2.  PPL notes that the Complainant had an opportunity at the hearing to:  (1) present his case and make his arguments; (2) present his testimony and evidence; and (3) provide a closing argument to present his legal arguments.  PPL further states that, the ALJ’s decision not to issue a briefing schedule was within her discretion, adding that the presiding officer has authority to, inter alia, “regulate the course of the proceeding.”  R. Exc. at 2 (citing 52 Pa. Code § 5.483(a)).  PPL adds that the Complainant’s concern regarding the lack of briefing is moot because through the filing of Exceptions, Mr. Ulmer has been able to present his written arguments.  R. Exc. at 2-3.  

c. 	Disposition

The Complainant essentially argues that he was denied the ability to present his legal arguments because the ALJ did not issue a briefing schedule, and as a result, his due process rights were violated.  Exc. at 2.  

As an administrative agency of the Commonwealth, the Commission is required to provide due process to the parties appearing before it.  Schneider v. Pa. PUC, 479 A.2d 10, 15 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984) (Schneider), citing Fusaro v. Pa. PUC, 382 A.2d 794 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1978).  Due process is satisfied when the parties are afforded notice and the opportunity to appear and be heard.  Schneider, 479 A.2d at 15 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984), citing Township of Middleton v. The Institute District of the County of Delaware, 293 A.2d 885 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1972), aff’d 450 Pa. 282, 299 A.2d 599 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1973).  The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.  Montefiore Hospital Ass’n of Western Pennsylvania v. Pa. PUC, 421 A.2d 481, 484 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1980).

Here, Mr. Ulmer appeared at, and participated in, the evidentiary hearing duly scheduled and held in this matter.  Tr. at 7.  During the hearing, the Complainant was provided with an opportunity to explain why he filed the Amended Complaint and what relief he was seeking from the Commission.  Tr. at 11-12.  Further, the Complainant was offered the chance to cross-examine PPL’s witnesses.  Tr. at 36, 45, 59, 79.  Finally, Mr. Ulmer was provided with an opportunity to give a closing argument.  Tr. at 88.  In addition, we note that the Hearing Notice provided instructions to the Parties for relying upon and introducing exhibits at the hearing. 
Upon review of the transcript and the Initial Decision, we find that the Complainant was provided an adequate opportunity to present his factual evidence and legal arguments to the ALJ at the hearing.  Moreover, the ALJ had the authority at her discretion to regulate the course of the proceeding, including the use of pre- and post-hearing procedures.  See 52 Pa. Code § 5.483(a), see also, e.g., 5.222(b).  We note that, in pro se complaint cases in particular, it is a long-standing procedural practice of the Office of Administrative Law Judge to not require the submission of written briefs in the interest of minimizing the administrative burden placed on pro se complainants in litigating a formal complaint before the Commission.  Finally, we note here that the Complainant did not request the ALJ to require the submission of briefs.  Thus, for all of the foregoing reasons, we find the ALJ did not abuse her discretion in deciding not to issue a briefing schedule to the Parties.  52 Pa. Code § 5.483(a).  

Therefore, we find Mr. Ulmer’s claim that he was not afforded due process to be without merit.  

2. [bookmark: _Hlk45203875]Complainant’s Health and Safety Concerns Regarding the Installation of the AMI Meter

a. Exception No. 2

The Complainant contends that the ALJ erred by not giving credence to his testimony or his filings.  Mr. Ulmer maintains that since the Company installed a smart meter on a pole at the corner of his property, he suffers from sleep disruptions and two of his animals have died.  The Complainant submits that PPL has refused to accommodate his health needs and that the Company is threatening service termination if he does not allow PPL to install a smart meter on his home.  The Complainant adds that this violates his Federal and state constitutional rights, as well as his rights under the ADA, and Sections 1501 and 1502 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § § 1501, 1502.  Exc. at 2-3.
b. 	Replies

PPL asserts that the ALJ properly concluded that there was no reliable scientific or medical basis to conclude that the AMI meter will cause, contribute to, or exacerbate any adverse health effects, including any of the symptoms claimed by the Complainant, or cause or contribute to the development of illness or disease.  R. Exc. at 3-4 (citing I.D. at 12-17).  According to the Company, the ALJ relied upon the credible and reliable expert testimony of Dr. Israel and Dr. Davis, “refuting the Complainant’s bald assertions that the AMI meter could cause or contribute to adverse health effects.”  R. Exc. at 4 (citing PPL St. 1 at 5-16; PPL Exhs. CD-1 through CD-5; PPL St. 2 at 7-19; PPL Exhs. MI-1 through MI-3).  PPL cites to and recounts the record evidence it presented through expert witnesses Dr. Davis and Dr. Israel, as summarized and considered by the ALJ in the Initial Decision based on the record.  R. Exc. at 4-9.  

PPL submits that based on the evidence presented, the ALJ correctly concluded that the Complainant’s allegations were insufficient to sustain his burden of proof because they were based on his lay, or non-expert, opinion and, to a large extent, based on unnamed hearsay materials.  R. Exc. at 9 (citing I.D. at 13, 15, 22).  The Company states that it presented overwhelming evidence through its scientific and medical expert witnesses, Dr. Davis and Dr. Israel, to support the ALJ’s finding that there is no reliable basis to conclude that the new AMI meter will cause, or contribute to, any adverse health effects.  R. Exc. at 9.  

PPL maintains that the Complainant failed to recognize the burden of proof applied by the Commission in this proceeding.  The Company provides that, it is well-established that, “[p]roof of causation is required in order to prevail under Section 1501.”  R. Exc. at 9 (citing Hoffman-Lorah v. PPL Electric Utilities Corp., 2019 Pa. PUC LEXIS 195, at *62 (Order entered May 23, 2019), appeal pending, 712 C.D. 2019 (Hoffman‑Lorah)).  PPL notes that, it is not sufficient to merely demonstrate “a potential for harm.”  R. Exc. at 9 (citing Hoffman-Lorah, 2019 Pa. PUC LEXIS 195, at *62).  

PPL states that the Commission lacks the jurisdiction to interpret and enforce the ADA, adding that this lack of jurisdiction is well-established.  R. Exc. at 16 (citing Frompovich, 2018 Pa. PUC LEXIS 160, at *69).  The Company notes that it “has only those powers which are expressly conferred upon it by the Legislature and those powers which arise by necessary implication.”  R. Exc. at 16-17 (citing Feingold v. Bell, 383 A.2d 791, 794 (Pa. 1977)).

PPL avers that it cannot violate the Complainant’s constitutional rights by installing a new AMI meter.  R. Exc. at 18.  The Company argues that the Complainant fails to identify which specific rights, under the U.S. Constitution and Pennsylvania Constitution, he believes would be violated as a result of the new AMI meter installation.  R. Exc. at 17 (citing Exc. at 2).  The Company claims that two elements must be met for there to be a deprivation of constitutional rights:  (1) “the deprivation must be caused by the exercise of some right or privilege created by the state”; and (2) “the party charged with the deprivation must be a person who may fairly said to be a state actor.”  R. Exc. at 17 (citing Commonwealth v. Corley, 491 A.2d 829, 832 (Pa. 1985) (emphasis added by PPL)).  PPL notes that it is not a state actor, but adds that if it were, the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals found that smart meter data collection by a city-owned public utility was a reasonable, warrantless search.  R. Exc. at 17-18 (citing Naperville Smart Meter Awareness v. City of Naperville, 900 F.3d 521, 527-529 (7th Cir. 2018)).

[bookmark: _Hlk45786906]PPL is of the opinion that, contrary to the Complainant’s allegations, the Company’s installation of the new AMI meter would not violate Section 1502 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1502.  R. Exc. at 18.  The Company references the testimony of PPL witness Mr. Durkin to explain that it must install the new AMI meters for all of its customers, pursuant to its Commission-approved Smart Meter Plan.  Therefore, PPL continues, if the Complainant’s request for an opt-out of the smart meter were granted, it would arguably violate Section 1502 because the Complainant would receive an “unreasonable preference or advantage” in service that other customers in similar situations do not receive.  Id. (citing 66 Pa. C.S. § 1502).  

[bookmark: _Hlk45259471]c. 	Disposition

We agree with the ALJ’s well-reasoned analysis in her Initial Decision and the ALJ’s conclusion that the Complainant did not meet his burden of proof regarding his claim that the AMI smart meter will cause, or contribute to, adverse health effects for the Complainant, his girlfriend, and his farm animals.  I.D. at 12, 23.  Specifically, we affirm the ALJ’s finding in COL No. 18, that the Complainant failed to show that the proposed AMI meter causes, contributes to, or exacerbates any adverse health effect.  I.D. at 23.  Similarly, the Complainant failed to offer any competent evidence of record to support a finding that his health, or the health of those around him, will be adversely affected by a smart meter, or to support a finding that PPL’s use of a smart meter to measure the electric usage at his property will constitute unsafe or unreasonable service, in violation of Section 1501.  Moreover, the Company presented overwhelming evidence through its scientific and medical expert witnesses, Dr. Davis and Dr. Israel, respectively, to support the ALJ’s finding that there is no reliable basis to conclude that the new AMI meter will cause, or contribute to, any adverse health effects.  Therefore, in our opinion, PPL’s installation of the new AMI meter will not violate Section 1501 of the Code.  

Dr. Israel, in his testimony, successfully rebutted that there is no reliable medical basis to conclude that RF fields from the AMI meter being used by PPL will cause, or contribute to, the development of illness or disease.  I.D. at 15 (citing PPL St. 2 at 16).  In order to prevail in a Section 1501 claim against an EDC alleging that an AMI meter caused, or will cause, adverse health effects or harm to human health, the Complainant must demonstrate, by a preponderance of the evidence, a “conclusive causal connection” between the harm to human health and the RFs from the AMI meter.  See 2019 Povacz Order.  The lay opinion of the Complainant does not provide a conclusive, causal connection between the harm to human health and the RFs from the AMI meter. 

The Complainant contends that PPL is threatening service termination if he does not allow the Company to install a smart meter at his residence.  Exc. at 2.  As discussed infra, PPL must install an AMI meter to comply with its Commission-approved Smart Meter Plan.  R. Exc. at 14-15.  Further, it is well-settled that where a customer refuses a utility access to its meter, the utility may terminate service after required notice is provided.  52 Pa. Code § 56.81(3).[footnoteRef:12]  The Commission’s Regulations at 52 Pa. Code § 56.81(3), provide, in pertinent part, the following:  [12: 	While PPL furnishes and owns the meter, the meter typically is located on a customer’s property.  PPL’s ability to change a meter or metering equipment – i.e., to remove an existing PLC meter and install a new AMI meter – requires the customer to give PPL reasonable access to its meter located on the customer’s property.  Indeed, PPL’s Tariff provides that “Company employees shall have access at all reasonable hours to customer’s premises, without charge, for the purpose of inspecting installations, installing meters, reading, testing, removing, replacing or otherwise maintaining or disposing of any of Company’s property.”  PPL’s Tariff Electric Pa. P.U.C. No. 201, Rule 2.F, page 6B.] 


[bookmark: _Hlk45787037]A public utility may notify a customer and terminate service provided to a customer after notice as provided in §§ 56.91-56.100 (relating to notice procedures prior to termination) for any of the following actions by the customer . . . Failure to permit access to meters, service connections or other property of the public utility for the purpose of replacement, maintenance, repair or meter reading. 

52 Pa. Code § 56.81(3).  Additionally, PPL’s Tariff Electric Pa. P.U.C. No. 201, Rule 10.B(g), page 14A, states that the Company may terminate electric service on reasonable notice if PPL’s entry to the meter is refused.[footnoteRef:13]   [13: 	A public utility’s Commission-approved tariff is prima facie reasonable, has the full force of law and is binding on the utility and the customer.  66 Pa. C.S. § 316, Kossman v. Pa. PUC, 694 A.2d 1147 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1997) (Kossman); and Stiteler v. Bell Telephone Co. of Pennsylvania, 379 A.2d 339 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1977) (Stiteler).] 


The Complainant also contends that his medical condition entitles him to an accommodation under the ADA.  Exc. at 2.  The ALJ noted in the Initial Decision, supra, the Commission has no jurisdiction to require PPL to provide such an accommodation.  Further, we agree with PPL that, the Commission has consistently held that, it lacks jurisdiction to determine whether a person has a disability defined by the ADA and to enforce the ADA’s provisions.  R. Exc. at 16-17 (citing Frompovich at *69).

Lastly, the Complainant claims PPL is in violation of Section 1502 of the Code.  The Code at 66 Pa. C.S. § 1502 states as follows:

No public utility shall, as to service, make or grant any unreasonable preference or advantage to any person, corporation, or municipal corporation, or subject any person, corporation, or municipal corporation to any unreasonable prejudice or disadvantage.  No public utility shall establish or maintain any unreasonable difference as to service, either as between localities or as between classes of service, but this section does not prohibit the establishment of reasonable classifications of service. 

66 Pa. C.S. § 1502.  Upon a review of the record, and based on the foregoing discussion in this Exception, we find the Complainant’s claim that PPL violated Section 1502 to be unfounded.  

For all the foregoing reasons, we shall deny the Complainant’s Exception No. 2.

3. [bookmark: _Hlk45777907]Complainant’s Concerns Regarding an Opt-Out and the Commission’s Interpretation of 66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(f)

a. Exception No. 3

[bookmark: _Hlk45791956]The Complainant contends that the ALJ erred by not recognizing that the 2015 Smart Meter Order “[c]ontains a provision for customers to have to accept a smart meter (i.e., no opt-out) that the customer did not request and who did and does not now live in a new construction home...”  Exc. at 3.  Further, Mr. Ulmer argues that the Commission is defending a misinterpretation of the legislative intent of Section 2807(f)(2) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(f)(2), Act 129, and the Smart Meter Implementation Order.  Exc. at 3, 8.  Moreover, the Complainant is of the opinion that, the Commission misinterpreted the word depreciation, as it appears in the language of Section 2807(f)(2)(iii), to mean that EDCs are required to install smart meters for all of their customers within 15 years.  Exc. at 3-5, 6-7, 9.  

The Complainant interprets Section 2807(f)(2) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(f)(2), to mean that homeowners living in existing construction are provided with a smart meter if they request one, or that smart meters “shall be furnished” in new construction.  Exc. at 4.  Further, Mr. Ulmer asserts that smart meter deployment is not mandated by the language in Sections 2807(f)(2), 2807(f)(6), or 2807(f)(7) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(f)(2), (6)-(7).  Exc. at 5, 6, 9.  In short, the Complainant contends that there is no basis on which the Commission, or PPL, can justify smart meter deployment, adding that no such inference can be made from Section 2807 and Act 129, and that there is no legal reason that he must accept a smart meter.  Exc. at 10-11.

Although the Complainant states that he is not contesting that prior Commission decisions have ruled that Act 129 does not allow for opt-outs, Mr. Ulmer argues that it is “solely and unequivocally” the Commission’s misinterpretation of the intent and meaning of the language in Section 2807(f)(2)(iii) that makes Act 129 a “no opt out smart meter deployment law.”  Exc. at 8.  Mr. Ulmer elaborates as follows:
[bookmark: _Hlk45627140]
The absence of a plainly stated opt-out provision does not preclude a utility customer from declining a meter based on various unsafe conditions…that could be caused or exacerbated by smart meter radiofrequency emissions in accordance with 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501.  This is patently false.

Exc. at 8.  To support his argument, the Complainant mentions, inter alia, several proposed House Bills and one Senate Bill, noting how the timeline of some bills compares with the June 2009 Smart Meter Implementation Order.  Id.

The Complainant claims that he has presented “overwhelming” evidence that Section 2807(f)(2)(iii) establishes nothing more than the maximum service life of smart meters.  Mr. Ulmer emphasizes that there is no evidence to support the Commission’s position that the deployment of smart meters is a requirement under Section 2807(f)(2)(iii).  Exc. at 10.  The Complainant cites to language in a Commission Order that states the following:

The ALJ found that the Implementation Order is not a regulation and does not have the full force and effect of law.  Instead, it acts as a policy to provide guidelines to EDCs regarding the Commission’s expectations about smart meter plans.

Id. (citing Joint Petition of Metropolitan Edison Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company, and Pennsylvania Power Company for Approval of Smart Meter Technology Procurement and Installation Plan, Docket No. M-2009-2123950 (Order entered June 9, 2010) (2010 Joint Petition)).
b. Replies

[bookmark: _Hlk45279192][bookmark: _Hlk42854056]PPL provides that the ALJ properly held that the installation of the new AMI meter is required by law.  R. Exc. at 13 (citing I.D. at 15-17, 19).  PPL notes that Section 2807(f) of the Code prescribes that EDCs, like PPL, must file smart meter plans and “shall furnish smart meter technology” in any of the following situations:  (1) “[u]pon request from a customer that agrees to pay the cost of the smart meter at the time of the request,” (2) “[i]n new building construction,” and (3) “[i]n accordance with a depreciation schedule not to exceed 15 years.”  R. Exc. at 13 (citing 66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(f)(1)-(2)) (emphasis added by PPL).  PPL explains that in interpreting the smart meter provisions of Act 129, the Commission declared that EDCs must “deploy smart meters system-wide” because of the requirement that smart meters be deployed “in accordance with a depreciation schedule not to exceed 15 years.”  R. Exc. at 13 (citing Smart Meter Implementation Order at 14).  PPL explains further that the Commission also “recognize[d] that deployment of smart meters on a piecemeal or individual basis could involve greater costs than a systematic system-wide deployment.”  R. Exc. at 13 (citing Smart Meter Implementation Order at 9, 14).  Therefore, PPL reasons, it must install the new meters for every customer in its service territory, including the Complainant.  R. Exc. at 13.  

PPL provides that nothing in Act 129 permits a customer to opt-out of a smart meter installation.  The Company avers that, the Commission has repeatedly held that, PPL must install the new AMI meters for all of its customers.  R. Exc. at 13-14 (citing Hoffman-Lorah, 2019 Pa. PUC LEXIS 195, at *72-73; Schmukler v. PPL Electric Utilities Corp., Docket No. C-2017-2621285, pp. 73-73 (Order entered July 23, 2019), appeal pending, 1102 C.D. 2019).  Further, PPL notes that only the General Assembly can amend Act 129 to add such an opt-out.  According to PPL, although bills have been proposed in the General Assembly to add such an opt-out, such as House Bill 1564 of the 2017-2018 Session, they have never been enacted.  R. Exc. at 14.  Moreover, PPL explains that it is not permitted to install any other type of meter under its Smart Meter Plan and it cannot leave the existing, non-compliant PLC meter in place.  R. Exc. at 14‑15 (citing PPL St. 4 at 6; 2015 Smart Meter Order at 24).    

PPL contends that the Complainant’s argument that the Company should be allowed to grant him an opt-out of the smart meter installation because the Smart Meter Implementation Order is not legally binding, is erroneous.  R. Exc. at 15 (citing Exc. at 10).  The Company explains that the Order cited by the Complainant in his Exceptions, which approved the initial Smart Meter Deployment Plan for Metropolitan Edison Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company, and Pennsylvania Power Company[footnoteRef:14], omits the Commission’s statement in that Order that “EDCs are not free to ignore” the Smart Meter Implementation Order.  R. Exc. at 15 (citing 2010 Joint Petition).  Therefore, PPL continues, the Complainant’s reliance on that Order is misplaced.  R. Exc. at 15. [14: 	See Joint Petition of Metropolitan Edison Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company, and Pennsylvania Power Company for Approval of Smart Meter Technology Procurement and Installation Plan, 2010 Pa. PUC LEXIS 963 (Order Entered June 9, 2010).] 


PPL counters that, the Commission’s 2015 Smart Meter Order, which requires the installation of smart meters for all of PPL’s customers, is legally binding.  R. Exc. at 15.  PPL, citing Section 501(c) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 501 (c), states that it must follow its Smart Meter Plan and the Commission’s Orders.  Therefore, PPL avers that it must install the new AMI meters for all of its customers, including the Complainant.  R. Exc. at 15-16.

c. Disposition

We shall deny the Complainant’s Exception on this issue for the reasons that follow.  Mr. Ulmer currently has a PLC meter.  Tr. at 35.  The Commission has, in prior Orders, found that the existing PLC meter does not meet the meter specifications as required by Act 129 and it must be replaced.  Exc. at 14.  Per this directive, PPL must install an AMI meter to comply with its Smart Meter Plan.  An analog meter is not approved as a meter choice as part of PPL’s Smart Meter Plan.  PPL St. 4 at 6.

We have previously concluded there is no opt-out provision in Act 129.  The ALJ stated that, the Commission has ruled that, there is no provision in the Code, the Commission’s Regulations, or the Commission’s Orders that allows a PPL customer to “opt-out” of smart meter installation.  I.D. at 17-18 (citing 66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(f); Bervinchak v. PPL Electric Utilities Corporation, C-2016-2572824 and C-2016-2577527 (Final Order October 2, 2018, Initial Decision dated August 16, 2018); 2013 Povacz Order; 2019 Povacz Order).  Further, we have concluded that we do not have the authority, absent directive in the form of legislation, to prohibit an EDC from installing a smart meter where a customer does not want one simply due to the customer’s preference (even if such preference involves a health preference).  See, e.g., 2013 Povacz Order; see also, 2019 Povacz Order.  

Section 2807(f) of the Code prescribes that EDCs must file smart meter plans and “shall furnish smart meter technology” in any of the following situations:  (i) “[u]pon request from a customer that agrees to pay the cost of the smart meter at the time of the request”; (ii) “[i]n new building construction”; and (iii) “[i]n accordance with a depreciation schedule not to exceed 15 years.”  66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(f)(1)-(2).  We previously concluded that the use of the word “shall” in Section 2807(f) indicates the General Assembly’s direction that all customers will receive a smart meter.  2013 Povacz Order at 10; Paula and Charles Hughes v. PPL Electric Utilities Corporation, C‑2019‑3007631 (Order entered July 16, 2020) at 27.  In contrast with the Complainant’s arguments, in our opinion, when comprehensively reading Section 2807(f)(2)(i) and (iii) together, subsection (i) directs an EDC to install a smart meter upon the request of a customer, in the event the customer desires a smart meter to be installed at the customer’s premises, in advance of the time the EDC will install a smart meter at the customer’s premises, in accordance with the EDC’s Commission-approved depreciation or deployment schedule.  This interpretation is based on the language in subsection (i), requiring the customer to agree to pay the cost for the installation of the smart meter at the time of the request.  In contrast, the depreciation schedule referenced in subsection (iii) addresses the length of time the EDCs will recover the depreciation expense in socialized utility rates associated with the capital investment in deploying smart meters system-wide.[footnoteRef:15]  Indeed, we declared that EDCs must “deploy smart meters system-wide” because of the requirement that smart meters be deployed “in accordance with a depreciation schedule not to exceed 15 years.”  Smart Meter Implementation Order at 14.  We also “recognize[d] that deployment of smart meters on a piecemeal or individual basis could involve greater costs than a systematic system-wide deployment.”  Smart Meter Implementation Order at 9, 14.  Moreover, we agree with PPL that the 2015 Smart Meter Order requires the installation of smart meters for all of PPL’s customers.  R. Exc. at 15-16 (citing See 2015 Smart Meter Order).   [15:  	In the Smart Meter Implementation Order, we recognized that the EDCs needed time to select the technology, train personnel, and deploy the entire AMI network, including any associated hardware and software.  Smart Meter Implementation Order at 6.  ] 


The Complainant offers the dates that several proposed House and Senate bills were introduced.  Exc. at 8.  Mr. Ulmer adds that “timing is key here” but he does not elaborate.  The ALJ stated that although the General Assembly is currently considering amending Section 2807(f) in some pending bills, such bills are not yet law.  I.D. at 20; R. Exc. at 14.  

The ALJ noted that the Complainant could advocate for the ability to opt-out before the General Assembly, as the Commission does not have the authority, absent a directive in the form of legislation, to prohibit PPL from installing a smart meter where a customer does not want one.  I.D. at 20 (citing 2013 Povacz Order).  The ALJ provided that, the Commission held that, similarly situated EDCs would be in violation of law if they did not install a smart meter at properties similarly situated to Complainant’s residence.  I.D. at 20 (citing 2013 Povacz Order, Frompovich at 7-8).  

We find no error in the ALJ’s determination as set forth in the Initial Decision.  Therefore, the Complainant’s Exception No. 3 is denied.

4. [bookmark: _Hlk45259689]Complainant’s Credibility and Credential Concerns Regarding Dr. Davis and Dr. Israel

a. Exception Nos. 4 and 5

The Complainant contests the acceptance of Dr. Davis as an expert witness in biophysics because he does not possess a degree in that subject.  Mr. Ulmer claims that Dr. Davis, as an electrical engineer and a physicist, does not comprehend how complex biological systems of the body “work synergistically.”  Exc. at 11.  The Complainant adds that Dr. Davis “is only concerned with heating effects of RF/microwaves as they strike the skin of a living being.”  Id.  In addition, Mr. Ulmer accuses Dr. Davis of having lied during his testimony and, therefore, his testimony should be thrown out.  The Complainant explains as follows:
[bookmark: _Hlk27167123]
[W]hen asked how many decades he has been testifying on the side of industry for the D.C[.] Law firm of Watson and Renner.  His reply was “two years.”  This is a lie, as Dr. Davis has been testifying for Watson and Renner for several decades, and in particular, for PECO Energy Company… beginning in 2015…

Exc. at 11.  The Complainant supports his claim by noting three Commission cases as examples:  (1) Susan Kreider v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. C-2015-2469655 (Order entered May 23, 2017); (2) Laura Sunstein Murphy v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. C-2015-2475726 (Order entered May 9, 2019); and (3) the 2019 Povacz Order. 

		The Complainant also contests the testimony of Dr. Israel.  Mr. Ulmer explains that because he has not been treated by Dr. Israel, and because Dr. Israel has not treated any patient with sensitivity to RF or microwaves, his testimony is not relevant.  Further, the Complainant accuses Dr. Israel of ignoring studies that show adverse health effects.  Id.

b. 	Replies

[bookmark: _Hlk45791936][bookmark: _Hlk47014462]PPL argues that the Complainant’s characterizations of the expert opinions and qualifications of Dr. Davis and Dr. Israel lack merit because the credentials and credibility of Dr. Davis and Dr. Israel are unassailable and their opinions have been relied upon in several court proceedings and proceedings before the Commission.  R. Exc. at 10 (citing PPL St. 1 at 1-5; PPL St. 2 at 1-7).  Further, PPL contends that the Complainant waived his right to object to the qualifications of the Company witnesses to testify as experts in their respective fields of expertise.  PPL points out that, at the hearing, the Complainant did not object to Dr. Israel being certified as an expert witness in his field of expertise, nor did he object to Dr. Davis being accepted as an expert in the fields of physics, chemistry, electrical engineering, electromagnetics, bioelectromagnetics, and RF bioelectromagnetics.  R. Exc. at 11 (citing Tr. at 53-54, 78).[footnoteRef:16]  Moreover, PPL continues that, the Complainant’s argument that Dr. Davis has been testifying on the subject of biophysics for several decades does not provide any credible basis for ignoring the expert testimony of Dr. Davis.  R. Exc. at 12 (citing Exc. at 11). [16: 	PPL notes that Mr. Ulmer did object to Dr. Davis testifying as an expert in biophysics, but his objection was overruled.  R. Exc. at 11 (citing Tr. at 53-54).  Further, PPL claims that, “[a]ny fields of expertise to which the Complainant did not object, the Complainant waived his right to object to the expert witnesses’ qualifications to testify as experts in those fields.”  R. Exc. at 11.] 

c. 	Disposition

In his direct testimony, Dr. Davis testified that the fields of expertise that relate to his testimony about smart meters in this case are physics, biophysics, chemistry, electrical engineering, electromagnetics, bioelectromagnetics, RF bioelectromagnetics, and dosimetry.  PPL St. 1 at 4.  During the hearing, Dr. Davis testified that he has a degree in Natural Sciences, which includes, inter alia, biophysics.  Further, Dr. Davis testified that he has over 40 years of research experience that resulted in his knowledge of biophysics.  Tr. at 53-54.  The ALJ accepted Dr. Davis as an expert witness in his field despite the Complainant’s objection.  Tr. at 54.

Dr. Israel testified that his fields of expertise that are relevant to the instant proceeding are medicine and medical research, including RF fields and health.  PPL St. 2 at 6.  During the hearing, the Complainant did not object to the acceptance of Dr. Israel as an expert witness in the fields of medicine and medical research.  Tr. at 78.

Upon review of the record, including the direct testimony of Dr. Davis and Dr. Israel, we find no reason to question the ALJ’s acceptance of Dr. Davis and Dr. Israel as experts in their respective fields, nor do we have reason to question the credibility and reliability of their testimony.  

Regarding the Complainant’s averment that Dr. Davis lied when he was asked how long he has been testifying for the law firm Watson and Renner, we are not persuaded to find that his response of “about two years” was an intentionally false statement.  Further, the Complainant does not provide an explanation to support his belief that Dr. Davis has been testifying for Watson and Renner “for several decades.”  Exc. at 11.

For the reasons outlined above, the Complainant’s Exception Nos. 4 and 5 are denied.

5. [bookmark: _Hlk45778082]Complainant’s Concerns Regarding Prior Decisions of Smart Meter Complaints

a. Exception No. 6

The Complainant avers that the ALJ erred “when she stated that [the Commission] decides cases on an individual basis and the specific allegations presented.”  Exc. at 11.  Mr. Ulmer clarifies that since 2015, no one has won an accommodation from the smart meter deployment.  In support, the Complainant points out that most of the other utilities have used Dr. Davis and Dr. Israel, and that the same ALJ has been assigned to most of the prior smart meter complaint cases for the same utility.  Id.

b. Replies

[bookmark: _Hlk45266520]PPL counters that the Commission’s reliance on the opinions of the experts in multiple proceedings does not show bias or lack of credibility, but it does demonstrate that their expert opinions are reliable.  R. Exc. at 11 (citing Exc. at 11).  PPL further remarks that nothing presented by the Complainant demonstrates that the Commission fails to decide cases on an “individual basis” and on the “specific allegations presented.”  R. Exc. at 19 (citing Exc. at 11).  Moreover, the Company observes that nothing in the record, or in any Commission orders, demonstrates that the Commission fails to “thoroughly review the records of every case before it and render its decisions accordingly.”  R. Exc. at 19.  In addition, PPL responds that, to date, the fact that no customer has received an opt-out of an AMI meter installation reflects that:  (1) the Commission lacks the authority to approve an opt-out under Pennsylvania law; and (2) the allegations that the new AMI meters cause, contribute to, or exacerbate adverse health effects are unfounded.  Id. 

c. Disposition

We are of the opinion that, the Complainant’s argument in support of his allegation of biased positions and collusion between the Commission and the utilities is without merit and must be denied.  We note that our decisions in each smart meter installation case are considered on an individual basis established on the facts in the record of each particular proceeding. 

Conclusion

Based upon our review of the record and the applicable law, we shall deny the Complainant’s Exceptions and adopt the Initial Decision, consistent with this Opinion and Order; THEREFORE,

IT IS ORDERED:

1. That the Exceptions filed by Jeffrey Ulmer on March 26, 2020, are denied, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

2. That the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Elizabeth H. Barnes, issued on March 6, 2020, at Docket No. C-2018-3003824, is adopted, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

3. That the Formal Complaint filed on August 3, 2018, and the Amended Complaint filed on January 7, 2020, by Jeffrey Ulmer against PPL Electric Utilities Corporation, at Docket No. C‑2018‑3003824, are denied.
		4.	That this proceeding at Docket No. C-2018-3003824 be marked closed.

[bookmark: _GoBack][image: ]BY THE COMMISSION,

	


Rosemary Chiavetta
Secretary


(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED:  August 27, 2020

ORDER ENTERED:  August 27, 2020
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